UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 01-40599

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellant,

VERSUS

JEREMY JEROVE ARCLESE,

Def endant - Appel | ee.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Eastern District of Texas

(1: 00-CR-96-4)
June 13, 2002

Bef ore DUHE, DeMOSS, and CLEMENT, Circuit Judges.
DeMOSS, Circuit Judge:”

The def endant, Jereny Arclese, alongwith Cdiffon Wber, Andre
McCl el l and, and Jonathan WIIlianms, was indicted on June 7, 2000,
for carjacking with intent to cause death or serious bodily harm
On Novenber, 22, 2000, Arclese pleaded guilty to the carjacking,

but specifically disavowed any involvenent in his co-defendant

"Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the Court has determ ned that this
opi ni on shoul d not be published and is not precedent except under
the limted circunmstances set forth in 5THGQR R 47.5. 4.



Weber’s use of a firearmto shoot the carjacking victim He did
not dispute the fact that he fled with Whber and the other co-
defendants in the victinmis vehicle after the shooting.

The district court accepted Arclese’ s guilty plea and ordered
a pre-sentencing report (PSR) be prepared. The PSR determ ned
that, pursuant to 8§ 2B3.1 of the United States Sentencing
Cui delines, a base-offense level of 20 applied. See U S S G
8§ 2B3.1 (governing robbery offenses). The PSR al so recommended
several specific offense characteristics under 8 2B3.1 be applied
to enhance Arclese’s sentence. Specifically, it recomended a 13-
| evel enhancenent because a firearmwas di scharged (7 points), the
vi cti msustai ned serious bodily injury (4 points), and a carj acki ng
occurred (2 points). See US S G 8§ 2B3.1(b)(2), (b)(3)(B), &
(b)(5). Arclese objected to these proposed enhancenents, asserting
that he did not join in the shooting and arguing that his very
limted involvenent in the crinme began after the shooting when he
fled the scene as a passenger in the victims car. The district
court sustained Arclese’s objections and declined to enhance his
sentence. The court concluded that the violent acts of Arclese’s
co-conspirator Weber were not sufficiently foreseeable to Arclese
to justify enhancing Arclese’s sentence. See U S S G

8§ 1B1.3(a)(1)(B). Accordingly, Arclese was sentenced, wth an



of fense level of 17,2 to 37 nonths’ inprisonnment and 3 years
supervi sed rel ease. The governnent appeal s here.
The governnent asserts jurisdiction under 18 U S C
8§ 3742(b)(2), which permts the governnent to appeal a final
sentence if it “was inposed as a result of an incorrect application
of the sentencing guidelines.”? In accordance with 8§ 3742's
requi renents, the governnent secured the Solicitor GCeneral’s
approval to prosecute this appeal. Section 3742(e) defines the
paraneters of our review here:
The court of appeals shall give due regard to the
opportunity of the district court to judge the
credibility of the witnesses, and shall accept the
findings of fact of the district court unless they
are clearly erroneous and shall give due deference
to the district «court’s application of the
guidelines to the facts.
18 U.S.C. § 3742(e).
Havi ng carefully reviewed the entire record in this case, and
having fully considered the parties’ respective briefing, we
conclude that the governnent has failed to denonstrate that the

district court’s findings were clearly erroneous. Accor di ngly,

giving “due deference to the district court’s application of the

2 The offense level for robbery in 20, and Arclese received a
3-poi nt downward departure for acceptance of responsibility.

3 The governnent’'s brief asserts jurisdiction under 18 U S.C.
83742(b) (1), which permts the governnent to appeal a final
sentence inposed in “violation of law.” However, the governnent
clarified during oral argunent that it was actually relying on
83742(b)(2)'s provisions for appealing incorrect sentencing
gui del i ne applications.



guidelines to the facts,” see id., we AFFIRM the defendant’s

sent ence.



Edith Brown Cenent, Crcuit Judge, dissenting:

Jereny Arclese pled guilty to participating in a carjacking
conspiracy during which another conspirator, diffon Jamail Wber,
shot and injured the car’s owner, John Ruffin. The District Court
rejected the recommendations of the pre-sentencing report that
Arcl ese’s sentence be enhanced to reflect two specific offense
characteristics: that a firearmwas di scharged and that the victim
sustai ned serious bodily injury. The District Court held that since
t he shooti ng was not foreseeable to Arclese, he should not be held
accountabl e for those specific offense characteristics.

It was clear error for the District Court to conclude that the
shooting was unforeseeable because Arclese pled guilty to
conspiring to commt a crinme whose very definition requires an
“Iintent to cause death or serious bodily harm” 18 U S. C. § 2119

(2002). | woul d reverse.

Under the Sentencing Quidelines, the punishnent for a
conspiracy is determned by the base level for the substantive
of fense (here, robbery), “plus any adjustnents fromsuch guideline
for any intended offense conduct that can be established wth
reasonable certainty.” See U. S. SENTENCING GU DELINES MANUAL 8§ 2X1.1
(2001). However, the “reasonable certainty” standard applies only
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to conduct that was allegedly intended to occur, not conduct that

actually did occur. See United States v. Cabrera, 288 F. 3d 163, 169

(5th Cr. 2002); see also U S. SENTENCING GUI DELINES MANUAL 8§ 2X1. 1,
application note 2 (noting the distinction between offense
characteristics “specifically intended” and those that “actually
occurred”). The sentencing enhancenents at issue are occurrences,
not intentions, so the first question for the sentencing court is
whet her those occurrences happened, and the proper standard is
whet her they happened by a preponderance of the evidence. Cabrera,
277 F.3d at 169.

There can be no question that a firearm was di scharged and
that bodily injury occurred. Wber was convicted by a jury of the
shooting, and Ruffin, the victim testified at Arcl ese’s sentencing
hearing. Arclese does not contest these facts.

The inquiry does not end there, however, because a defendant
is only accountable for facts which constitute “rel evant conduct”
under 81B1l.3 of the Sentencing Cuidelines. Subsection (a)(1)(B)
provides that “in the case of a jointly undertaken crimnal
activity” sentence enhancenents shall be determ ned on the basi s of
“all reasonably foreseeable acts and omssions of others in
furtherance of the jointly undertaken crimnal activity.”

Because t he shooting was both in furtherance of conspiracy and



reasonably foreseeabl e, Arclese should have been hel d account abl e.
The district court found that the shooting was not foreseeable, and
we are obliged to defer to the district court’s factfinding unless
“clearly erroneous.” 18 U.S.C. § 3742(e) (2002). This is a case of
clear error.

Arclese was indicted and pled guilty to one count of
conspiracy to violate 18 U. S.C. 8§ 2119(2), the subsection of the
federal carjacking statute that applies when “serious bodily

injury... results.” Carjacking, a form of robbery, is defined as
taking a notor vehicle by either “force and violence” or
“intimdation” with “the intent to cause death or serious bodily
injury.” 18 U S C 8 2119. The District Court even granted a 2-
poi nt enhancenent to Arcl ese’ s sentencing | evel because t he robbery
i nvol ved a carjacking, also defined in the guidelines to require
“force and violence” or “intimdation.” See U. S. SENTENCH NG GQUI DELI NES
MaNUAL 8§ 2B3. 1, application note 1.

It has long been established that “a guilty plea is an

adm ssion of all the elenents of a formal crimnal charge.” See

MCarthy v. United States, 394 U S. 459, 466 (1969); see also

United States v. Trevino, 131 F.3d 1140, 1141 (5th Gr. 1997) (“By

entering his plea of guilty, [defendant] admtted all the el enents
of the <charge contained in this <conspiracy count of the
indictnment.”). Arclese does not assert that his plea was anything
but know ng and voluntary, so he is deened to have admtted the
el emrents of the conspiracy offense.
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One el enent of a conspiracy charge is that the defendant have

at least the degree of <crimnal intent necessary for the

substantive offense itself.” See United States v. I ngram 360 U S.

672, 678 (1959) (enphasis inoriginal) (citation omtted); see also

United States v. Peterson, 244 F.3d 385, 389 (5th Gr. 2001);

United States v. Dadi, 235 F.3d 945, 950 (5th Gr. 2000). Arclese

is deened to have admtted to having had an intent to cause bodily
har m

Logically speaking, it is inpossible that Arclese both
intended to cause bodily harmyet could not have foreseen that it
woul d actually occur. And practically speaking, the very nature of
a crimnal robbery conspiracy is such that one’'s co-conspirator
m ght engage in unplanned violence. The Sentencing Guidelines
reflect this common sense proposition in one of the exanples.

For exanple, two defendants agree to conmt a robbery
and, during the course of that robbery, the first
def endant assaults and injures a victim The second
defendant is accountable for the assault and injury to
the victim(even if the second defendant had not agreed
to the assault and had cautioned the first defendant to
be careful not to hurt anyone) because the assaultive
conduct was in furtherance of the jointly undertaken
crimnal activity (the robbery) and was reasonably
foreseeable in connection with that crimnal activity
(given the nature of the offense).

8§ 1B1.3, application note 2 (enphasis added).

Courts have uniformy agreed that violence is inherent in

robberies and found such occurrences to be foreseeable and



accountable to a defendant. See United States v. H ckman, 151 F. 3d

446, 463 (5th Cir.1998) (murder during a restaurant robbery), reh' g
granted and opinion vacated, 165 F.3d 1020 (1999), aff’'d by an

equally divided court, 179 F.3d 230 (1999) (per curian); United

States v. Parker, 241 F.3d 1114, 1118 (9th Cr. 2001) (physica

restraint in a bank robbery); United States v. Cover, 199 F.3d

1271, 1274-75 (11th G r. 2000) (carjacking as part of an unpl anned

escape); United States v. Lanbert, 995 F.2d 1006, 1009 (10th Cr

1993) (death threat nmade to bank teller); United States v. D xon,

982 F.2d 116, 120 (3rd G r. 1992) (feigned gun possession in a bank

robbery); United States v. Fitzwater, 896 F.2d 1009, 1012 (6th G r

1990) (bank teller’s injury frombeing forced to lie on the floor
during a robbery).

In fact, courts have held defendants accountable for harns
caused by persons not involved in the crine, as long as the
def endant or another conspirator “put into notion” events risking

harm See United States v. Mdlina, 106 F. 3d 1118, 1122-25 (2d Cir

1997); United States v. Wllians, 51 F.3d 1004, 1011-12 (11th G

1995), overruled on unrelated grounds by Jones v. United States,

526 U. S. 227 (1999). In Mlina, defendant was hel d accountable for
the bodily injury that resulted when, in the course of an arnored
car robbery, a guard accidently shot an innocent bystander. 106
F.3d at 1122-25. In WIllians, defendant’s attenpted carjack ran

af oul when the passenger-side occupant pulled a weapon conceal ed

-9-



beneath his seat and accidently shot the driver, and the El eventh
Circuit wupheld a sentencing enhancenent under the federa
carjacking statute because death resulted. 51 F.3d at 1011-12.
These cases establish that defendants are to be held
accountable for certain risks inherent in the particular crimnal
enterprise they undertake because such risks are always
foreseeable. The risk that bodily injury will occur inheres in the
crime of carjacking because the crine involves, by definition
“Iintent to cause death or serious bodily harm” 18 U S.C. § 2119.
Because the District Court commtted clear error infailingto
hold Arclese accountable for the facts which resulted from the
ri sks inherent inthe crime to which he pled guilty, | respectfully

di ssent.
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